
331 East JACKSON ST.   P.O. Box 650   CICERO, IN 46034 
PHONE: 317-984-5845   FAX: 317-984-5938   WWW.CICEROIN.ORG 

Board of Zoning Appeals Agenda 
August 21st, 2025 

7:00 p.m. 

Roll Call of Members 
Present:  

� Scott Bockoski - Chairman 
� Mike Berry 
� Harrison Massone 
� Mark Thomas 
� Steve Zell 
� Aaron Culp - Legal Counsel 
� Frank Zawadzki - Cicero Jackson Township Planning Director 
� Terri Strong – Recorder 

1. Declaration of Quorum

2. Approval of Minutes
July 17th, 2025

3. Old Business:
Docket #: BZA-0725-24-NC
Petitioner: The Furniture Garage
Property Address:  49 W Jackson Street, Cicero, IN 46034

A Development Standards Variance application has been submitted regarding the property located at 49 E Jackson Street, Cicero to: 
Allow a projecting sign to exceed eighteen (18) inches from the wall it is attached to. Whereas Article 10.5 of the Cicero/Jackson 
Township Zoning Ordinance Neighborhood Commercial (NC) Sign Standards states no part of a projecting sign may protrude more 
than eighteen (18) inches from the wall it is attached. 

Docket #: BZA-0725-25-NC 
Petitioner: The Furniture Garage 
Property Address:  49 W Jackson Street, Cicero, IN 46034 

A Development Standards Variance application has been submitted regarding the property located at 49 E Jackson Street, Cicero to: 
Allow a projecting sign to exceed ten (10) square feet in area. Whereas Article 10.5 of the Cicero/Jackson Township Zoning 
Ordinance Neighborhood Commercial (NC) Sign Standards states that the maximum area for a multi-tenant structure shall be ten 
(10) square feet per tenant.

4. New Business:
Docket #: BZA-0825-21-MP
Petitioner: Robert Tetrick
Property Address:  129 Rosewood Drive, Cicero, IN 46034

A Development Standards Variance application has been submitted regarding the property located at 129 Rosewood Drive, Cicero, 
IN 46034 to allow an accessory structure in the front yard in the “MP” district. Whereas Article 7.5 Accessory Structure Standards 
(AS-02) of the Cicero/Jackson Township Zoning Ordinance states that an accessory structure shall only be located to the side or rear 
of the primary structure.  



331 East JACKSON ST.   P.O. Box 650   CICERO, IN 46034 
PHONE: 317-984-5845   FAX: 317-984-5938   WWW.CICEROIN.ORG 

Docket #: BZA-0825-26-C3 
Petitioner: Bullseye Fence Design LLC 
Property Address:  22179 N US 31, Cicero, IN 46034 

A Development Standards Variance application has been submitted regarding the property located at 22179 US 31 N, Cicero, IN 
46034, to allow a fence with less than 50% surface open area and is not a picket or rail fence. Whereas Article 7.21 FN-02 paragraph 
6 of the Cicero/*Jackson Township Zoning Ordinance states that fences or walls located in the front yard shall have no less than 50% 
open surface area (Picket fence/rail fence) in the “C3” district.  

Docket #: BZA-0825-31-R3 
Petitioner: Elisabeth Smith  
Property Address:  601 Tamarack Larch Blvd, Cicero, IN 46034 

A Development Standards Variance application has been submitted regarding the property located at 601 Tamarack Larch Blvd, 
Cicero, IN 46034, concerning Article 7.21 FN-01, Fence and Wall Standards of the Cicero/Jackson Township Zoning Ordinance to 
allow a fence to be four (4) feet in height in the front yard. Whereas Article 7.21 FN-01, Fence and Wall Standards states that a fence 
shall not be greater than three (3) feet in height in the front yard. 

Docket #: BZA-0825-35-DC 
Petitioner: Gymies Fitness Center 
Property Address: 47 W Jackson Street, Cicero, IN 46034 

An application for appeal has been submitted for the property located at 47 W Jackson Street, Cicero, IN 46034, contesting the 
decision made by the Plan Director to not allow a static message electronic sign in the DC district. The petitioner maintains that the 
sign does not meet the definition of a prohibited electronic sign as defined in chapter 16 Electronic/Animated signs: and  meets sign 
standards set forth in Chapter 10.8 of the Cicero/Jackson Township[p Zoning Ordinance.  

5. Plan Director’s Report: See packet.

6. Chairperson’s Report:

7. Legal Counsel’s Report:

8. Board Member Comments:

9. Next Planned Board of Zoning Appeals Meeting:
September 18th, 2025

10. Adjournment:

Location: 
Cicero Town Hall 
70 N Byron Street 
Cicero, IN 46034 



331 East JACKSON ST.   P.O. Box 650   CICERO, IN 46034 
PHONE: 317-984-5845   FAX: 317-984-5938   WWW.CICEROIN.ORG 

Terms:  
Scott Bockoski – Council President Appointment – Term 01/01/2024 – 12/31/2027 
Mike Berry – Council President Appointment – Term 01/01/2024 – 12/31/2027 
Harrison Massone – Council President Appointment – Term 01/01/2022 – 12/31/2025 
Mark Thomas – Plan Commission Appointment – Term 01/01/2024 – 12/31/2027 
Steve Zell – Council Appointment – Term 01/01/2022 – 12/31/2025 



331 East JACKSON ST.   P.O. Box 650   CICERO, IN 46034 
PHONE: 317-984-5845   FAX: 317-984-5938   WWW.CICEROIN.ORG 

Board of Zoning Appeals Minutes 
July 17th, 2025 

7:00 p.m. 

Roll Call of Members 
Present:  

� Scott Bockoski - Chairman 
� Mike Berry 
� Harrison Massonne 
� Mark Thomas 
� Steve Zell 
� Aaron Culp - Legal Counsel 
� Frank Zawadzki - Cicero Jackson Township Planning Director 
� Terri Strong – Recorder 

1. Declaration of Quorum- Chairman Bockoski declared a quorum with all members present.

2. Approval of Minutes
Mr. Zell made motion to approve Minutes from June 19th, 2025, as presented.  Mr. Berry second.  All present in favor.

Chairman Bockoski reminded everyone present that the BZA is a quasi-judicial branch of the local government.  The Board
will be discussing items on the docket and issues or stipulations relating to the docket.  Any issues or comments should be made       
toward the Board and its members as opposed to the petitioner or other members of the audience.  All speakers must sign in if 
planning on speaking at the sign in sheet at the door.  Each attendant must state name and address upon visit to the podium.  Each 
speaker is limited to three minutes at the podium for each docket. Each item on the docket has portion set aside for public hearing, 
if a person wishing to speak agrees with someone that has already spoke, it is not necessary to repeat it in entirety.  Speaker can 
agree and move on in interest of time. Remind everyone that all motions are made in the affirmative but does not mean that is the 
way we will vote.   

3. Old Business: No old business.

4. New Business:

Docket #: BZA-0625-18-R3
Petitioner: Duane & Leeanne Etchison
Property Address:  815 Morse Landing Drive, Cicero, IN 46034

A Development Standards Variance application has been submitted regarding the property located at 815 Morse Landing Drive, 
Cicero IN to: Allow a fence to be six (6) feet tall in the front yard: Whereas Article 7.21 Fence and Wall Standards (FN) of the 
Cicero/Jackson Township Zoning Ordinance states that a fence shall not be greater than three (3) feet in height in the front yard. 

Docket #: BZA-0625-19-R3 
Petitioner: Duane & Leeanne Etchison 
Property Address:  815 Morse Landing Drive, Cicero, IN 46034 

A Development Standards Variance application has been submitted regarding the property located at 815 Morse Landing Drive, 
Cicero IN to: allow an accessory structure in front of the primary structure: Whereas Article 7.5 of the Cicero/Jackson Township 
Zoning Ordinance states that an accessory structure shall be located to the rear or side of the primary structure. 



331 East JACKSON ST.   P.O. Box 650   CICERO, IN 46034 
PHONE: 317-984-5845   FAX: 317-984-5938   WWW.CICEROIN.ORG 

Docket #: BZA-0625-20-R3 
Petitioner: Duane & Leeanne Etchison 
Property Address:  815 Morse Landing Drive, Cicero, IN 46034 

A Development Standards Variance application has been submitted regarding the property located at 815 Morse Landing Drive, 
Cicero IN, 46034 concerning Article 7.21 Fence and Wall Standards (FN) of the Cicero/Jackson Township Zoning Ordinance to: 
Allow a fence in the front yard to have less than 50% open surface area.  Whereas Article 7.21 states that a fence in the front 
yard shall have no less than 50% open surface area.  

Duane and Leeanne Etchison 815 Morse Landing Drive, Cicero.  Mr. Etchison stated they are excited to build a pool on their side 
lot.  Chairman Bockoski stated he drove the property today and it is on a corner lot which institutes all of this.  Thank you for 
doing the due diligence.  Please explain the fence.  Mr. Etchison stated six foot high.  Chairman Bockoski verified that would go 
all around the area.  Mr. Etchison stated correct.  Mr. Thomas asked if there are plans for any shrubbery around it.  Mr. Etchison 
stated yes, would match the rest of the house.  No room for it anyplace else.  Mr. Zell thank the petitioner for the plans that 
spell out the project very well.  

Mr. Zell made motion to open the public hearing for these dockets.  Mr.  Massonne seconded the motion.  All present in 
favor.  
Chairman Bockoski asked if anyone wanted to speak on these dockets.  Seeing no one, asked Mr. Zawadzki if he had any letters 
to be read tonight.  

        Mr. Zawadzki shared email from: 
        Christian Fiems co-owner at 820 Morse Landing Drive.  Do not oppose pool project that is across the street. 

         Mr. Massonne made motion to close the public hearing.  Mr. Zell second.  All present in favor. 

Chairman Bockoski recapped for the Board, first is height for safety and privacy, second is due to corner lot, third is 50% open 
face which goes typically for the front yard, which this has two.  Mr. Zell stated they do not have a lot of space for this project, 
not a lot of choices anywhere else on the property.  Mr. Massonne stated the rest of the property is nice looking, do not feel it 
necessary to add as stipulation, they would probably do on their own.   

Mr. Massonne made motion to approve BZA-0625-18-R3 as presented.  Mr. Zell seconded the motion.  
Mr. Bockoski-approve, Mr. Massonne-approve, Mr. Berry-approve, Mr. Thomas-approve, Mr. Zell-approve  5-0 

Mr. Massonne made motion to approve BZA-0625-19-R3 as presented.  Mr. Zell seconded the motion. 
Mr. Zell-approve, Mr. Thomas-approve, Mr. Massonne-approve, Mr. Berry-approve, Mr. Bockoski-approve 5-0 

Mr. Massonne made motion to approve BZA-0625-20-R3 as presented.  Mr. Zell seconded the motion. 
Mr. Thomas-approve, Mr. Zell-approve, Mr. Bockoski-approve, Mr. Berry-approve, Mr. Massonne-approve 5-0 

Docket #: BZA-0725-22-AG 
Petitioner: Patrick & Patricia Lindley 
Property Address:  22200 Cammack Road, Noblesville, IN 46062 

A Development Standards Variance request application has been submitted concerning Article 3.2 “AG” District Standards of the 
Cicero/Jackson Township Zoning Ordinance to: allow a fifteen (15) foot side yard setback for a secondary structure. Whereas 
Article 3.2 of the Cicero/Jackson Township Zoning Ordinance states that minimum side yard setbacks shall be thirty-five (35) 
feet for a secondary structure. 



331 East JACKSON ST.   P.O. Box 650   CICERO, IN 46034 
PHONE: 317-984-5845   FAX: 317-984-5938   WWW.CICEROIN.ORG 

Patrick Lindley 22200 Cammack Road, Noblesville.  The plan when built five years ago was to build a hobby/equipment shed.  
Trying to utilize the current pathway over the existing infrastructure.  Building is 20 x 30.  Mr. Zell questioned if running a 
business out of the building. Mr. Lindley stated no.  Mr. Zell questioned water and electricity to building.  Mr. Lindley answered 
no water but yes electricity.  No living quarters. Chairman Bockoski questioned lighting.  Mr. Lindley stated similar to current 
building, overhead door lights, small porch light with sensor.  Chairman Bockoski verified no business.  Mr. Lindley stated no. 

Mr. Massonne made motion to open to public.  Mr. Zell seconded.  All present in favor.  
Mr. Zawadzki stated did not have one to read.  Mr. Thomas stated one in the packet.  Chairman Bockoski read the letter from 
Jason Beezy, no issue with project, buffer of trees prevents seeing the structure.   
Mr. Massonne made motion to close public hearing.  Mr. Zell seconded.  All present in favor.     

Chairman Bockoski commented to Board, his question was why not on the other side of house, answered as utilizing existing      
drive.  In front of house requires another variance as stated in the packet.  Mr. Zell stated he felt aesthetically pleasing where it is 
proposed.  Chairman Bockoski stated he felt stipulations should be no business or living quarters with this one. 

Mr. Massonne made motion to approve BZA-0725-22-AG with the following conditions:  There will be no business ran out of 
the facility and no living quarters.  Mr. Thomas seconded. 
Mr. Massonne-approve, Mr. Berry-approve, Mr. Thomas-approve, Mr. Bockoski-approve, Mr. Zell-approve  5-0. 

Docket #: BZA-0725-23-DC 
Petitioner: Gymies Fitness Center  
Property Address:  47 W Jackson Street, Cicero, IN 46034 

A Development Standards Variance application has been submitted regarding the property located at 47 West Jackson Street, 
Cicero IN, 46034 concerning Article 10.8 Downtown Commercial (DC) Sign Standards of the Cicero/Jackson Township Zoning 
Ordinance to: Allow a permanent electronic/animated sign. Whereas Article 10.8 of the Cicero/Jackson Township Zoning 
Ordinance lists an electronic/animated sign as a prohibited sign. 

Bryan Widows 2513 W. 200 South, Tipton.   Current sign is old marquee sign have had for 20 years and with building 
improvements doesn’t match.  To change letters, have to use ladder, annoyance and could be safety hazard with the sidewalks.  
It is the same sign the Town of Cicero has at Red Bridge.  Chairman Bockoski questioned the size.  Mr. Widows stated little 
smaller than current sign, 7 ft by 36in. raising up a foot for clearance.  Chairman Bockoski questioned if as bright as the park 
signs.  Mr. Widows stated it is adjustable.  Mr. Berry questioned if would be on 24/7.  Mr. Widows stated yes, the gym is open 
24/7.  Mr. Berry questioned the signs at the park are older style with dots, newer is like a tv screen, is there anything more 
modern.  Mr. Widows stated for his purpose this will work and be more modern than what is there. Mr. Berry asked how often 
the existing sign is changed.  Mr. Widows answered not often, it is a pain.  Mr. Berry asked how often this new sign change 
would occur, every five minutes, 10 minutes. Mr. Widows stated it would have rotating messages.  Chairman Bockoski stated he 
thought he read a one minute minimum to reduce safety concerns.  Mr. Thomas stated that was staff recommendation.  Mr. 
Zell asked Mr. Zawadzki regarding the new Comprehensive Plan, is there any language regarding electronic signs in the 
downtown area that would guide us.  Mr. Zawadzki stated not that he can recall but prohibited through zoning ordinances.  Mr. 
Zell questioned the purpose of the sign.  Mr. Widows stated promotional tips and motivation.  Mr. Zell questioned if social 
media would be more effective.  Mr. Widows stated he uses social media, but this is a captive audience while at light for 2-3 
minutes.  Mr. Zell expressed concern for distraction in a congested area, how often the sign changes, messages, and foot traffic. 
Concern for safety.  Mr. Widows asked if more of a distraction than the parks area.  Mr. Culp stated he didn’t see anything that 
spoke to this.  Mr. Zell questioned how bright would it be, during day would want it to be bright but during night would want it 
to be dimmer.  Could this be adjusted?  Mr. Widows answered stated he knows there is a brightness adjustment, but do not 
know if it can be a timed adjustment.  Mr. Berry expressed concern based on Community Park’s sign.  Mr. Widows stated if too 
bright is not going to help, if can be adjusted on time would do so.  Mr. Massonne stated he also notices the sign at the bridge at 
night.  Also asked if there will be ads on the sign.  Mr. Widows stated only for us.  Mr. Massonne shared information that he 
found with options for dimming.  Mr. Massonne added that he felt adding an LED sign to downtown would be adding the wrong 
standard, like the older sign, do not think the brightness would change my mind.  Comparing to other downtown areas, it is not 



331 East JACKSON ST.   P.O. Box 650   CICERO, IN 46034 
PHONE: 317-984-5845   FAX: 317-984-5938   WWW.CICEROIN.ORG 

what we are looking for.  Mr. Thomas stated we have turned down other signs in the past, do we have any other lit signs?  Mr. 
Zawadzki stated we have lit signs but not changing signs. Mr. Zell questioned if approved, would still have to go to Plan 
Commission for Aesthetic Review. 

Mr. Zell made motion to open public hearing on this petition.  Mr. Berry seconded. All present in favor.  
LeeAnne Etchison here for different reason but wanted to add, do not think the future of Cicero is not an electronic sign in 
downtown.  Do not think it is a distraction, would like to see an updated sign.  
Mr. Zell made motion to close the public hearing.  Mr. Thomas seconded.  All present in favor. 
Mr. Massonne asked if parks signs could be turned down.  Mr. Zawadzki stated he would look into it. Mr. Massonne stated 
concern for safety as approaching the railroad and area.  Trying to determine the practical difficulty of this sign why can’t meet 
standards in the ordinance today.  Mr. Berry stated the current sign reminds me of 1950-60’s, if you want quaint atmosphere in 
town that is fine, but we are growing.  Concern for next sign request and could put stipulations on it to not be an issue.  Mr. Zell 
stated his issue is that it is a distraction and that area is burdened with people and car traffic.  This would be something else that 
someone traveling on Jackson would take eyes off road.  Mr. Massonne stated he does not understand the difficulty here. 
Chairman Bockoski stated no electronic signs and not allowed per ordinance.  Mr. Thomas stated that as we grow we will get 
additional foot traffic and see it as a distraction at the railroad track.  Can see a lit sign as a distraction.  Chairman Bockoski 
stated do not want to take away from the business side, which is why you have a sign.  Compared to the high school sign and 
blinding factor as well as Community Park.  Would ask the petitioner to have the lumens dimmed during the day and shut off 
from dusk to dawn, as a possible condition. Understand could diminish the purpose of the sign.  Mr. Zell stated remind Board 
members of the reason the ordinance is the way it is.  Recalling the challenges and concerns when the ordinance was 
constructed and good reasons behind.  Chairman Bockoski reminded that we have had plan director to approve brightness of 
signs and feels it should be a condition if needed for safety.  Mr. Berry questioned if the sign is currently lit. Answer was no.  
Asked if thought about putting a light on it and leaving the sign alone.  Mr. Widows answered no had not considered.  Mr. Berry 
stated he doesn’t look at the sign and cannot answer if it was lit would I notice. Question to members, right next to business is 
dentist with neon sign, how is neon in the window different than this one.  Compared to downtown Noblesville with many neon 
signs in windows.  Mr. Zell answered that difference is location of the sign, while a great location if a lit sign is more of a 
distraction where it is at versus in a window. Mr. Berry asked if the sign was inside the building facing Jackson Street would it be 
ok.  Mr. Thomas stated would be a different viewpoint.  Mr. Massonne compared to other types of signs, backlit, box signs 
versus animation type of signs.  Mr. Zell stated regarding placement, that would be a new discussion.  Mr. Berry stated why isn’t 
it lit now and to change to 24/7, big difference.  Mr. Thomas questioned if the ones at the park are turned down currently.  
Chairman Bockoski answered that’s why should be a condition.  Mr. Berry asked if this was approved and it turns out the parks 
are turned down all the way, and still extremely bright, what happens to this sign, would it have to be removed.  Mr. Massonne 
stated he would recommend tabling letting him do research and contact Mr. Hunter for answers and options.  Mr. Culp stated 
we could table it for further information, is there an answer that would make you change your mind.  If not, you are making him 
wait a month for no reason.  Mr. Massonne stated since he doesn’t know the minimum setting on the parks sign that is holding 
him up.  Mr. Culp stated since we don’t have this type of sign, we don’t have standards set, normally we would have a standard 
that would have to be met for brightness.  Mr. Zell stated the ordinance is old and should be reviewed for newer technology.  
Chairman Bockoski came back to conditions:  discussed were no other ads for other businesses, ability to adjust the brightness 
of the sign for safety concerns.  Discussion ensued.  Mr. Zawadzki questioned Mr. Culp, after texting with Mr. Hunter (parks 
superintendent) is it appropriate to share information.  Mr. Culp yes.  Mr. Zawadzki asked if sign was adjustable and if turned 
down now.  Mr. Hunter stated he didn’t know and hasn’t had any complaints. Would like to upgrade his.   

Mr. Massonne made motion to approve BZA-0725-23-DC with following conditions:  in agreement with petitioner there will 
be no other ads for other businesses, the brightness of sign will be adjusted to dim and adjusted brighter at dawn.  Mr. Zell 
seconded the motion. 
Mr. Berry-approve, Mr. Bockoski-no, Mr. Zell-no, Mr. Thomas-no, Mr. Massonne-no.  1-4. Denied.   
Chairman Bockoski stated not approved and questioned Mr. Zawadzki how long petitioner would have to wait to come back.  
Mr. Zawadzki stated if wanting to do the same or similar sign, would have to wait one year.  



331 East JACKSON ST.   P.O. Box 650   CICERO, IN 46034 
PHONE: 317-984-5845   FAX: 317-984-5938   WWW.CICEROIN.ORG 

Docket #: BZA-0725-24-NC 
Petitioner: The Furniture Garage 
Property Address:  49 E Jackson Street, Cicero, IN 46034 

A Development Standards Variance application has been submitted regarding the property located at 49 E Jackson Street, 
Cicero to: Allow a projecting sign to exceed eighteen (18) inches from the wall it is attached to. Whereas Article 10.5 of the 
Cicero/Jackson Township Zoning Ordinance Neighborhood Commercial (NC) Sign Standards states no part of a projecting sign 
may protrude more than eighteen (18) inches from the wall it is attached 

Docket #: BZA-0725-25-NC 
Petitioner: The Furniture Garage 
Property Address:  49 E Jackson Street, Cicero, IN 46034 

A Development Standards Variance application has been submitted regarding the property located at 49 E Jackson Street, Cicero to: 
Allow a projecting sign to exceed ten (10) square feet in area. Whereas Article 10.5 of the Cicero/Jackson Township Zoning 
Ordinance Neighborhood Commercial (NC) Sign Standards states that the maximum area for a multi-tenant structure shall be ten 
(10) square feet per tenant.

Chairman Bockoski read the dockets and verified with Mr. Zawadzki that these needed to be tabled.  Mr. Zawadzki stated yes until 
next month. 

Mr. Massonne made a motion to table BZA-0725-24-NC and BZA-0725-25-NC.  Mr. Zell second.  All present in favor. 
Chairman Bockoski stated those dockets will be tabled until next meeting August 21st at 7:00 p.m. 

5. Plan Director’s Report: Mr. Zawadzki summarized report as follows:  June 2025 permit revenue was $5470 with YTD of
$23376.  Compares to June 2024 at $10496 and YTD 2024 of $25057, resulting in decrease of $5026 for month and decrease of 
$1681 for year.  Issued 19 permits for month 13/0 (new homes) in town limits and 6/1 in Township.   Estimated cost of projects is 
$1,105,055.  

6. Chairperson’s Report: Chairman Bockoski made request for Mr. Zawadzki going forward, the petitioner during the process
 of filing, fills out the form that we fill out.  Typically, they don’t put in effort to state their case before the meeting.  When they get 
here they do but would like them to be better informed. Is this possible?  Mr. Culp stated could add a page, revised Findings of Fact 
Page. Mr. Zell shared that it was a good idea and educating the petitioner.  Mr. Zawadzki stated they do counsel them on the process 
using the Findings of Fact but can add from their perspective.  Chairman Bockoski questioned Mr. Culp, when we are stating the 
motion to approve, are we being thorough enough in stating the motion.  Do we need to reread the entire docket, or restating the 
docket number?  Mr. Culp stated that typically the docket number is sufficient.    

7. Legal Counsel’s Report:  Mr. Culp shared that the Town has entered into an agreement to acquire three well sites east of
 town.  There is a final phase test that has to be done after the Town assumes ownership.  But process is underway.  Mr. Culp 
commented on the last petition, don’t ever it is wrong if we want to send the petitioner to seek more information, don’t like to do it 
if it is not going to change the outcome.     

8. Board Member Comments:  Mr. Massonne questioned Red Bridge Bistro, certain we discussed shrubbery to be sitting
behind the red Conex box, but it is seeded and planted like they are done.  Mr. Zawadzki the inside is done, but waiting on an 
approval, and do not have furniture placed so do not have a COO.  Mr. Zawadzki stated he would follow up with them. Mr. 
Massonne stated regarding the furniture place, when last time someone brought up parking in front of the building, however the 
pictures suggest they are using.  Mr. Zawadzki stated they do have ADA access, but will review.  They want to do the same set up as 
before but with more furniture.  Mr. Zell questioned Mr. Culp on the Estridge project, what is the status.  Mr. Culp answered 



 
 

331 East JACKSON ST.   P.O. Box 650   CICERO, IN 46034 
PHONE: 317-984-5845   FAX: 317-984-5938   WWW.CICEROIN.ORG 

 

 

 
originally going before the Town Council, since Mr. Lutz resigned and new member Jacob Everett was just determined Monday, they 
decided to move to second meeting in August to allow Mr. Everett to get up to speed.  
That meeting will be the third Tuesday of August.  Each council member will receive a complete package of all the notes/letters etc.  
Three of the five members have attended both original meetings.    
 

9. Next Planned Board of Zoning Appeals Meeting: 
August 21st, 2025 

 
10. Adjournment: 

Mr. Zell made a motion to adjourn the meeting.  Mr. Berry seconded.  All present in favor.  
 
 
Chairman:____________________________ 
 
Secretary:____________________________ 
 
Date:________________________________ 
 
Location: 
Cicero Town Hall 
70 N Byron Street 
Cicero, IN 46034 
 
 
Terms:  
Scott Bockoski – Council President Appointment – Term 01/01/2024 – 12/31/2027 
Mike Berry – Council President Appointment – Term 01/01/2024 – 12/31/2027 
Harrison Massone – Council President Appointment – Term 01/01/2023 – 12/31/2026 
Mark Thomas – Plan Commission Appointment – Term 01/01/2024 – 12/31/2027 
Steve Zell – Council Appointment – Term 01/01/2023 – 12/31/2026 



pLANNING CICERO / JACKSON TOWNSHIP oE\fELOPM£JVt 

;:.fcjffffl 'i, (BOARD OF ZONING AND APPEALS) 
CICERO/JACKSON TOWNSHIP 

VARIANCE APPLICATION 

OFFICE USE ONLY 

Variance Category Docket#: 

Q Development Standards Q Special Exception Date of Application: 

Q Land Use Q Other Date of Expiration: 
Variance Check List Variance Fee: 

Q Adjoiner List Q Legal Notice Copy Date of Hearing: 

Q Certified Mail Receipts Q Property Sign Date of Decision: 

Q Additional Applications for Variances Q Approved I□ Not Approved
APPLICANT MUST COMPLETE THE FOLLOWING 

State: I ZIP Code: 
E-mail:

State:JN I ZIP Code:
Subdivision: 
Telephone: 
Fax: 

, 

Cell Phone: 
I ZIP Code: Email: 

Property Owner: 

Property Address: 
City: 
Telephone: 

I Fax: 

Address: 
City: 
Parcel: 
General Contractor:
Address:
City:  State:

Variance Request: 

Commitments/ Conditions Offered: 

Code Section Appealed: 

331 E. JACKSON ST. P.O. Box 650 CICERO, IN 46034 
PHONE: 317-984-5845 FAX: 317-984-5938 WWW.CICEROIN.ORG 

Project

BZA-0725-24-NC

$320.00

 06/18/2025

07/17/2025



pLANNING CICERO / JACKSON TOWNSHIP oE\fELOPM£JVt 

;:.fcjffffl 'i, (BOARD OF ZONING AND APPEALS) 
CICERO/JACKSON TOWNSHIP 

VARIANCE APPLICATION 

OFFICE USE ONLY 

Variance Category Docket#: 

Q Development Standards Q Special Exception Date of Application: 

Q Land Use Q Other Date of Expiration: 
Variance Check List Variance Fee: 

Q Adjoiner List Q Legal Notice Copy Date of Hearing: 

Q Certified Mail Receipts Q Property Sign Date of Decision: 

Q Additional Applications for Variances Q Approved I□ Not Approved
APPLICANT MUST COMPLETE THE FOLLOWING 

State: I ZIP Code: 
E-mail:

State:JN I ZIP Code:
Subdivision: 
Telephone: 
Fax: 

, 

Cell Phone: 
I ZIP Code: Email: 

Property Owner: 

Property Address: 
City: 
Telephone: 

I Fax: 

Address: 
City: 
Parcel: 
General Contractor:
Address:
City:  State:

Variance Request: 

Commitments/ Conditions Offered: 

Code Section Appealed: 

331 E. JACKSON ST. P.O. Box 650 CICERO, IN 46034 
PHONE: 317-984-5845 FAX: 317-984-5938 WWW.CICEROIN.ORG 

Project

BZA-0725-25-NC
06/19/2025

$25.00
07/17/2025



Cicirol 
Findings of Fact/Decision Criteria: 

CICERO/JACKSON 

TOWNSHIP 

PLAN COMMISSION 

The Board of Zoning Appeals may approve or deny variances from the development standards of the Cicero/Jackson Township Zoning 

Ordinance. The Board may impose written commitments and/or reasonable conditions as part of an approval. A variance from the 

development standards may only be approved upon a determination in writing that: 

1 The approval will not be injurious to the public health, safety, morals, and general welfare of the 

community. 

Findings of Facts: 

This criterion has/ has not been met. 

2 The use and value of the area adjacent to the property included in the variance will not be affected in a 

substantially adverse manner. 

Findings of Facts: 

This criterion has/ has not been met. 

3 The strict application of the terms of the zoning ordinance will result in practical difficulties in the use 

of the property. Practical Difficulty: A difficulty with regard to one's ability to improve land stemming from regulations of 

this Ordinance. A practical difficulty is not a "hardship," rather it is situation where owner could comply with the regulations 

within this Ordinance but would like a variance from the Development Standards to improve his site in a practical manner. For 

instance, a person may request a variance from a side yard setback due to a large tree which is blocking the only location that 

would meet the Development Standards for a new garage location. 

Findings of Facts: 

This criterion has/ has not been met. 

331 E. JACKSON ST. P.O. Box 650 CICERO, IN 46034 

PHONE: 317-984-5845 FAX: 317-984•5938 WWW.CICEROIN.ORG 

... 

Docket #

There will be no issues with the public health, safety, morals and general welfare of the 
community.

The use and value of the area adjacent will not be affected in a substantially adverse manner.

Our request of a larger, projected sign is for visability due to the location of the store and 
visibility with surrounding businesses. 

BZA-0725-24,25-NC



Print: _______________________







 

331 E. Jackson Street  P.O. Box 650 Cicero, IN 46034       www.ciceroin.org      317-984-5845 

 

Docket: BZA-0725-24,25-NC 
Petitioner: The Furniture Garage 
 
 
                                 Cicero/Jackson Township 
                                 Plan Director Staff Report 
 
Docket No. BZA-0725-24,25-NC 
Staff: Frank Zawadzki 
Applicant: The Furniture Garage 
Property Size: 0.00 acres 
Current Zoning: NC 
Location: 49 E Jackson Street, Cicero, IN 46034 
 
Background Summary: There was a Use Variance granted in 2023 for the 
same use. According to Ordinance, this use may continue until the property 
is sold. This Variance is sought for the size and type of signage.  

 

Preliminary Staff Recommendations:   Staff would not oppose approval.  

 
Zoning Ordinance Considerations: If approved, must go through the 
Aesthetic review by the Plan Commission.  
 
District Intent: : The NC” (Neighborhood Commercial) District is intended 
to provide a land use category for small scale commercial uses that provide 
products and services to neighborhoods.  
 
 
 

http://www.ciceroin.org/


 

331 E. Jackson Street  P.O. Box 650 Cicero, IN 46034       www.ciceroin.org      317-984-5845 

 
Current Property Information: 
Former Firehouse and site of numerous other businesses. Jackson St 
frontage with alley access to the west.  
Land Use: Commercial Other structure  
Site Features: 0.00 
Vehicle Access: yes 
 
 
Planning Considerations: 
The following general site considerations, planning concepts, and other 
facts should be considered in the Plan Commission decision making 
process:  
Variance granted 6/20/23 for furniture restoration with retail sales. Same 
owners remain, same use continues.  
Definitions state that a projecting sign is defined by being mounted to the 
wall. There is an existing mount that they intend to use which is mounted to 
the wall. I worked with the petitioner to try and find a way to make their sign 
work within standards, was unable to do so. I am currently working on 
modifying standards to make this a little more friendly.  
 
Findings of Facts/Decision Criteria: I see no conflict with any of the 
criteria.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

http://www.ciceroin.org/




























 

331 E. Jackson Street  P.O. Box 650 Cicero, IN 46034       www.ciceroin.org      317-984-5845 

 

Docket: BZA-0825-21-MP 
Petitioner: Robert Tetrick 
 
 
                                 Cicero/Jackson Township 
                                 Plan Director Staff Report 
 
Docket No. BZA-0825-21-MP 
Staff: Frank Zawadzki 
Applicant: Robert Tetrick  
Property Size: .20 acres  
Current Zoning: MP 
Location: 129 Rosewood Drive, Cicero, IN 46034 
 
Background Summary: Petitioner applied for a building permit which 
could not be approved due to the accessory structure being in front of the 
primary.  

Preliminary Staff Recommendations:   Staff would not oppose approval.  

 
Zoning Ordinance Considerations: Corner lot, which necessitates the 
need for a Variance here.  
 
District Intent: : The “MP”, Manufactured Home Park, District is intended 
to provide a land use category for manufactured homes parks in the 
community as attractive and decent affordable housing.  
 
Current Property Information: 
 
Land Use: Mobile/Mfg. Home Platted  
Site Features: .20 acres  

http://www.ciceroin.org/


 

331 E. Jackson Street  P.O. Box 650 Cicero, IN 46034       www.ciceroin.org      317-984-5845 

Vehicle Access: Yes 
 
 
 
Planning Considerations: 
The following general site considerations, planning concepts, and other 
facts should be considered in the Plan Commission decision making 
process:  
The proposal is the better spot for this project. There is an easement on the 
south side of the parcel and won’t be able to meet setbacks.  
 
 
Findings of Facts/Decision Criteria: I think a practical difficulty could be 
made here because of the inability to place the structure in a spot that 
meets standards. This location would be the friendliest and would meet 
more standards than another location.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

http://www.ciceroin.org/






BZA-0825-26-C3
07/21/2025

$320.00
08/21/2025













 

331 E. Jackson Street  P.O. Box 650 Cicero, IN 46034       www.ciceroin.org      317-984-5845 

 

Docket: BZA-0825-26-C3 
Petitioner: Bullseye Fence Design Inc.  
 
 
                                 Cicero/Jackson Township 
                                 Plan Director Staff Report 
 
Docket No. BZA-0825-26-C3 
Staff: Frank Zawadzki 
Applicant: Bullseye Fence Design Inc.  
Property Size: 4.13 acres  
Current Zoning: C3 
Location: 22179 US Highway 31 N, Cicero, IN 46034 
 
Background Summary: As part of the effort to “clean up” this corridor, I 
reached out and asked for either removal of storage items outside or install 
screening.  

Preliminary Staff Recommendations:   Staff recommends approval 

 
Zoning Ordinance Considerations: Current zoning requires screening for 
outdoor storage. Current zoning also requires a 50% visibility standard for 
fences in front which cannot be met because screening should hide what’s 
inside. 50% has been determined by the Plan Commission to not constitute 
“effective screening”  
 
District Intent: : The “C3”, Business Park/Light Industrial, District is 
intended to provide a land use category for most low to moderate impact 
business park and light industrial facilities.  
 
 

http://www.ciceroin.org/


 

331 E. Jackson Street  P.O. Box 650 Cicero, IN 46034       www.ciceroin.org      317-984-5845 

 
Current Property Information: 
Land Use: Commercial Other Structure, fence contractor 
Site Features: 4.13 acres, US31 access, soon to have Englewood access 
from the rear once 31 access is closed.  
Vehicle Access: Yes 
 
Planning Considerations: 
The following general site considerations, planning concepts, and other 
facts should be considered in the Plan Commission decision making 
process:  
We are in a catch 22 situation here, one standard contradicts another. I 
have this on a list of possible changes to address during the Zoning 
Ordinance updates scheduled for this year. This will also need to have an 
aesthetic review if approved.  
 
 
Findings of Facts/Decision Criteria: a pretty obvious practical difficulty in 
my opinion. The 50% visibility standard cannot be met if the other is 
implemented, which it needs to be. , which I think is a safety based 
standard, will be irrelevant once access from US31 is closed.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

http://www.ciceroin.org/






pLANNING CICERO / JACKSON TOWNSHIP oE\fELOPM£JVt 

;:.fcjffffl 'i, (BOARD OF ZONING AND APPEALS) 
CICERO/JACKSON TOWNSHIP 

VARIANCE APPLICATION 

OFFICE USE ONLY 

Variance Category Docket#: BZA-0825-31-R3 

Q Development Standards Q Special Exception Date of Application: 07/21/2025

Q Land Use Q Other 
Variance Check List 

Date of Expiration: 
Variance Fee: $320.00

Q Adjoiner List Q Legal Notice Copy Date of Hearing: 08/21/2025

Q Certified Mail Receipts Q Property Sign Date of Decision: 

Q Additional Applications for Variances Q Approved I□ Not Approved
APPLICANT MUST COMPLETE THE FOLLOWING 

State: I ZIP Code: 
E-mail:

State:JN I ZIP Code:
Subdivision: 
Telephone: 
Fax: 

, 

Cell Phone: 
I ZIP Code: Email: 

Property Owner: 

Property Address: 
City: 
Telephone: 

I Fax: 

Address: 
City: 
Parcel: 
General Contractor:
Address:
City:  State:

Variance Request: 

Commitments/ Conditions Offered: 

Code Section Appealed: 

331 E. JACKSON ST. P.O. Box 650 CICERO, IN 46034 
PHONE: 317-984-5845 FAX: 317-984-5938 WWW.CICEROIN.ORG 

Project

esmith
Typewritten Text
Elisabeth Smith

esmith
Typewritten Text
601 Tamarack Larch Blvd

esmith
Typewritten Text
Cicero

esmith
Typewritten Text
IN

esmith
Typewritten Text
46034

esmith
Typewritten Text
571-528-0879

esmith
Typewritten Text
elisteff18@gmail.com

esmith
Typewritten Text
601 Tamarack Larch Blvd

esmith
Typewritten Text
46034

esmith
Typewritten Text
Cicero

esmith
Typewritten Text
Tamarack

esmith
Typewritten Text
05-06-02-00-06-010.000

esmith
Typewritten Text
571-528-0879

esmith
Typewritten Text
Good Shepherd Fence

esmith
Typewritten Text
1410 Sheldon St

esmith
Typewritten Text
Indianapolis

esmith
Typewritten Text
IN

esmith
Typewritten Text
46201

esmith
Typewritten Text
Corner lot fence height exception (Side yard = Front yard). 

esmith
Typewritten Text
Property owner requests approval to deviate from front yard fence height maximum of 36" to 48" fence height. This fence is to enclose the backyard for pet and child safety. Owner has received HOA approval. 













 

331 E. Jackson Street  P.O. Box 650 Cicero, IN 46034       www.ciceroin.org      317-984-5845 

 

Docket: BZA-0825-31-R3 
Petitioner: Elisabeth Smith 
 
 
                                 Cicero/Jackson Township 
                                 Plan Director Staff Report 
 
Docket No. BZA-0825-31-R3 
Staff: Frank Zawadzki 
Applicant: Elisabeth Smith 
Property Size: 0.31 acres 
Current Zoning: R3 
Location: 601 Tamarack Larch Blvd, Cicero, IN 46034 
 
Background Summary: Petitioner applied for a fence permit which could 
not be approved due to the 4’ in front Ordinance.  

 

Preliminary Staff Recommendations:   Staff recommends approval.  

 
Zoning Ordinance Considerations: This is typical to what has been 
approved in the past. Fence stays out of the DUE.  
 
District Intent: : The “R3”, Medium Lot, Medium Homes, District is 
intended to provide a land use category for medium lots and medium size 
single family detached homes.  
 
Current Property Information: 
 
Land Use: One Family Dwelling Platted  

http://www.ciceroin.org/


 

331 E. Jackson Street  P.O. Box 650 Cicero, IN 46034       www.ciceroin.org      317-984-5845 

Site Features: 0.31 acres 
Vehicle Access: Yes 
Corner lot in the Tamarack subdivision 
 
Planning Considerations: 
The following general site considerations, planning concepts, and other 
facts should be considered in the Plan Commission decision making 
process: HOA has approved, Tamarack has their additional standards 
about the height and type of fence allowed. This proposal meets both.  
 
 
Findings of Facts/Decision Criteria: 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

http://www.ciceroin.org/








PETITIONER’S FINDINGS 
State reasons why you feel your request should be approved by the Board. 

I respectfully request that Gymies Fitness Center be granted a sign permit, as the proposed 
sign fully complies with the Town of Cicero Zoning Ordinance—specifically Section 
10.8(B)(2) and (3), which clearly allow electronic changeable copy signs when certain 
conditions are met. 

The ordinance prohibits signs featuring animation, movement, flashing, color changing, or 
video displays (defined as moving images). Our proposed sign avoids all of these prohibited 
features. In fact, while the ordinance does not require electronic signs to be dimmed, we 
will proactively program the sign to automatically reduce brightness during evening and 
nighttime hours to ensure it remains appropriate, non-disruptive, and safe for the 
community. 

One of the key reasons we are requesting this update is the operational inefficiency and 
safety concern associated with our current manual sign. With a very small staff of family, 
updating messages is both time-consuming and overly burdensome process. When we 
manage to find time to update it, we’re on a ladder, overreaching to place letters, a clear 
safety risk and a potential distraction to passing drivers. In contrast, the proposed 
electronic sign will allow us to update messages quickly and safely from my computer at 
the front desk, improving both efficiency and public safety. 

While the quick reference table on page 153 offers a helpful summary, the governing 
language appears in more detail on pages 154–157. Section 10.8(B)(2) and (3) on page 154 
outlines the standards for permanent electronic signs, and our proposed sign meets every 
requirement listed in sub-items (a) through (e-ii), including those related to display type, 
transitions, and light levels. 

Importantly, our sign will not include any animated or flashing elements—unlike the digital 
signs currently operating at both public parks in town. While the Cicero Police Department 
has verbally confirmed that these signs have not been associated with any traffic incidents, 
we’re taking an even more conservative approach by using static-only messages with 
automatic brightness adjustments based on ambient light. These settings follow best 
practices established by the International Dark-Sky Association (IDA) and the Illuminating 
Engineering Society (IES), even though these standards are not required under the current 
ordinance. 

We also note that the electronic gas price signs at the two gas stations on the south side of 
town function in much the same way as our proposed sign. Please reference Picture A, 



Picture B, and Picture C.  This further reinforces our interpretation of what the ordinance 
permits in both intent and practice. 

It’s worth mentioning that the Town of Cicero Zoning Ordinance itself includes images of 
electronic signage on page 135 and changeable copy signage on page 148. For 
convenience, I’ve provided copies of those pages with this petition. 

In addition, I’ve included a letter from our sign vendor, who is the same vendor the Town of 
Cicero used for its own electronic signs, confirming that our proposed sign meets the 
requirements outlined in the ordinance. Their technical clarity and familiarity with the 
town’s standards further validate that this sign is in full compliance. 

We sincerely appreciate your time and thoughtful consideration, and we look forward to 
contributing to a safe, attractive, and professionally maintained streetscape in the Town of 
Cicero. 

 



 
 

331 East Jackson St. P.O. Box 650 Cicero, IN 46034 

To: Board of Zoning Appeals 

Regarding: Widows’ appeal of Plan Director’s rejection of electronic sign 
proposal 

Bryon Widows has appealed my decision to not allow a permit for his version of a new electronic sign, 
maintaining that the sign is different in that it only displays a static message, therefore should be 
allowed.  I maintain that the sign is clearly an electronic sign and per Ordinance, cannot be approved. I 
also maintain that a Variance for an electronic sign was already denied, therefore automatically 
eliminated for a period 1 year from the date of the decision, per BZA rules of order. This appeal then, is 
for a different sign proposal than the Variance request that was submitted at last month’s BZA hearing 
BZA-0725-23-DC. This Variance was denied by the BZA with a 4-1 vote on 7/17/25.  

Mr. Widows has a right to appeal my decision based on Article 12 of the CJT Zoning Ordinance under 
paragraph 12.4 Powers and Duties.  

Section 10.8 of DC sign standards on page 153 of the CJT Zoning Ordinance lists Electronic/animated sign 
as a prohibited sign. Chapter 16 defines an electronic or animated sign as: Any sign that uses movement 
or change of artificial and natural lighting or noise to depict action or create a special effect or scene. 
This includes any directly or indirectly illuminated sign that exhibits changing natural or artificial light or 
color effects by any means whatsoever. Flashing includes repetitive or non-repetitive lighting, and the 
use of cathode ray tubes, plasma, liquid crystal display (lcd), and the like to project video images.  

In section 10.8 Paragraph 3. Permanent Electronic/Sign Standards on page 154, it clouds the issue a bit 
by implying that an electronic sign is permitted if it meets these standards. I interpret that since an 
electronic sign is prohibited and can only be approved by the BZA through process of Variance, that this 
paragraph only applies when said Variance has occurred and has been approved.  

The electronic signs Mr. Widows lists as examples of signs that have been approved in the past at 
Speedway and at Shell, referred to as Picture B, and picture C, were approved in 2012 and 2016. In the 
case of the Speedway sign, it also went through the aesthetic review process by the Plan Commission. 
Zoning Ordinance was updated in 2015. The Shell sign was approved by a previous Plan Director in 2016 
as a ground sign and does not appear to have gone through the aesthetic review process. If this came 
through today, I would ask for a Variance to allow and the aesthetic review process as well. A recent 
example of this type of thing requiring a Variance is the McClure sign at US 31 and 236th street.  

Thank you, 

 

Frank Zawadzki  

Planning Director, Cicero/Jackson Township 

Fzawadzki@townofcicero.in.gov 

317-984-5845 

mailto:Fzawadzki@townofcicero.in.gov
























  
 

 

Director's Report 

July 2025  

Permit Revenue:  June 2025 = $6,551 YTD: $29,927 

June 2024 = $7,331  YTD: $32,388 

Difference: Month =  -$780     YTD: $-2,461 

• We have issued a total of 18 building permits for July 2025. 
 

•  10 have been inside the corporate limits (of which 0 have been new homes). 
 

• We have issued 8 in Jackson Township (of which, 2 was for a new home). 
 

• Estimated Cost of projects permitted $3,135,342. 
 
The Planning Commission meeting has been cancelled for August 12th.  
The BZA will meet August 21st, 2025 at the Town Hall.  

 
 

Please feel free to email, call or stop by the office anytime. 
 

At your service! 
 

Frank Zawadzki 


	TV Liquidator Description of LED Signs.pdf
	scan0979.pdf
	Petitioners findings
	picturea
	pictureb
	picturec
	tvliquidator_gymies

	TV Liquidator Description of LED Signs.pdf
	scan0979.pdf
	Petitioners findings
	picturea
	pictureb
	picturec
	tvliquidator_gymies


	Commitments Conditions Offered: 
	PHONE 3179845845 FAX 3179845938 WWWCICEROINORG: 
	Text3: Cicero
	Text4: scott@reliantpartners.com
	Text6: 46034
	Text8: IN
	Text9: 46034
	Text12: 49 E Jackson St
	Text14: 
	Text19: 
	Text2: 49 E Jackson St
	Text5: 
	Text7: 317-984-5550
	Text22: 
	Text23: 
	Text24: andrew@hoosiersignguy.com
	Text25: 
	Text26: 
	Text27: Scott Lindenberg
	Text28: Cicero
	Text29: Hoosier Sign Guy
	Text30: 4484 S. State Rd 19
	Text31: Tipton
	Text32: IN
	Text33: 46072
	Text35: Exterior Signage
	Text36: 
	Check Box37: Yes
	Check Box38: Off
	Check Box39: Off
	Check Box40: Off
	Text42: 


